IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

STD J. WHITE

JUN 1 1995

Criter Deputy Clark

MARK ALLEN GERALDS,

Appellant,

11

CASE NO. 81,738

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress Of The Case

On March 15, 1989, a Bay County grand jury indicted Mark Geralds for first degree murder, armed robbery, burglary and auto theft. (R 7) At a jury trial commencing on January 29, 1990, Geralds was convicted as charged and sentenced to death for the murder, life for the robbery, life for the burglary, and 30 years for the auto theft as an habitual offender. (R 77-118, 184-193) Geralds appealed to this Court. On April 30, 1992, this Court issued an opinion affirming Geralds' convictions but remanding the case for a new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury. (R 240-260) Geralds v. State, 601 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 1992). A new penalty phase trial commenced on March 22, 1993, and ended on March 26th with the jury recommending a death sentence. (R 311-342)

Circuit Judge Don T. Sirmons reimposed a death sentence on April 13, 1993. (R 366-376)(A 1-11) As aggravating circumstances, the court found: (1) the homicide occurred during the commission of a robbery and burglary; (2) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (3) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R 368-373) In mitigation, the court found: (1) Geralds' age -- 22 at the time of offense; (2) Geralds' mental impairment as a nonstatutory mitigating circumstance; (3) Geralds' commitment and concern for his former wife and daughter; (4) Geralds' being unloved by his mother and from a divorced family; and (5) Geralds' mental

diagnosis of bipolar manic personality characterized by sudden temper and aggression when stressed. (R 373-375)

Geralds filed his notice of appeal to this Court on April 29, 1993. (R 378)

Facts -- Resentencing Penalty Phase Trial

(1) The Prosecution's Case

Tressa Lynn Pettibone was found dead in her home on February 1, 1989. A friend, Kelly Stracner, telephoned Pettibone around 9:00 a.m. in the morning of February 1st. (TR They were planning to meet for lunch that day with some other friends. (TR 452-453) Stracner telephoned the Pettibone residence again at 10:30, but no one answered the call. (TR 453-454) Later, she drove by the Pettibones' home and noticed that Tressa's car, a blue Mercedes 260, was not there. (TR 454) However, as she drove passed the school where her son and Tressa's son, Bart, attended, Stracner saw the Mercedes parked there. (TR 454-455) She knew from the earlier conversation that Bart had been ill the night before, and she thought her friend had been called to the school for that reason. (TR 455-456) Stracner wrote a note on the back of a bank deposit slip and left it on the windshield of the Mercedes. (TR 456-457, 459) Tressa Pettibone did not show up for the luncheon. (TR 457) At 2:30 p.m., Blythe Pettibone called Stracner and told her that her mother had not picked her up from school. (TR 457, 607) Stracner told Blythe to call again if her mother did not arrvie soon, and she also told Blythe that her mother had been at Bart's school that

day. (TR 457-458, 607) Blythe called again just before 3:00, and Stracner picked her up at school. (TR 548, 607) They drove by the Cherry Street School, and Stracner noticed Pettibone's car still in the parking lot. (TR 458, 608-609) Blythe went into the school office and a secretary told her that her mother had not been seen at the school that day. (TR 458-459, 608-609) Upon arriving at the Pettibone residence, Bart ran up to the car. (TR 459, 609) He had been crying and said his mother was inside on the floor. (TR 459, 609)

Investigator Bob Jimmerson testified about the crime scene and the investigation conducted in this case. (TR 360-450) The State was allowed to introduce all items of evidence admitted in the prior trial without showing any predicates or other foundation for their use. (TR 310-318) Jimmerson was permitted to use these exhibits and to testify to hearsay statements of other witnesses concerning the investigation. (TR 360-458) Geralds objected to the introductions of the exhibits and the hearsay testimony as violative of his right of confrontation. (TR 310-318)

Tressa Pettibone was on the floor of the kitchen, she had been beaten and stabbed in the neck. (TR 376-377, 385) Her hands were bound with a plastic electrical tie. (TR 379-380) A towel was tied around her neck. (TR 382-383) Another electrical tie similar to the one binding her hands was found on the kitchen floor. (TR 378-379) Pettibone wore a sweater and shorts. (TR 391) Investigators found earrings on the floor and one underneath the body. (TR 390-391) Contact lenses were also found, one on the body and one on the floor.

(TR 390, 393) Blood was spattered and smeared on the wall and floor. (TR 498-504) Janice M. Johnson, a crime scene analyst, stated she attended the autopsy Dr. Sybers conducted and collected clothing and other evidence from the body. (TR 508-509) Johnson, also a specialist in blood stain patterns, opined that a struggle occurred in the kitchen and lead into the dining area. (TR 503-504) Footprints in blood were found in the kitchen area and on the carpet in other areas of the house. (TR 381-382) A knife matching a set of kitchen knives in the house was found in the kitchen sink with a red-stained, blue towel wrapped around it. (TR 377, 389) Several items were missing from the residence. (TR 395-396) The Mercedes automobile was located at the parking lot of the school a few blocks away. (TR 393-395) A number of jewelry pieces were gone, including bracelets, necklaces, watches and rings. (TR 395-396) Also missing was a pair of red, Bucci sunglasses. (TR 395, 610)

Over defense objections, Dr. James Lauridson, a forensic pathologist from the Alabama Department of Forensic Sciences, was permitted to testify about the manner and cause of death of Tressa Pettibone. (TR 519-525, 539) Dr. William Sybers testified in the original trial about the autopsy and cause of death. However, since the original trial, Sybers was investigated as a murder suspect concerning the death of his wife. An extensive investigation was conducted by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (TR 313-318) (a copy of the FDLE report was admitted in the record as a defense motion exhibit, 2A & B) Although insufficient evidence was available

to indict Sybers, the investigation revealed irregularities in the manner he conducted autopsies in the medical examiner's office. (FDLE Report) Information contained in the FDLE investigation report raising potential problems included: (1) statements from Panama City police officers who witnessed unauthorized persons conducting all or substantial portions of autopsies; (2) indications that the medical examiner's office mixed up biopsy reports; (3) reports that examinations of specimens were conducted and conclusions made even though the specimen slides arrived broken; (4) Dr. Sybers may have been abusing prescription drugs and may have participated in a drug abuse rehabilitation program in December 1990 (the homicide in this case occurred in February 1989).

Geralds objected to the exhibits used in the first trial being introduced without a predicate established and affording Geralds an opportunity to contest admissibility anew. (TR 310-Additionally, Geralds objected to Lauridson being allowed to testify based on photographs and other materials Sybers allegedly prepared during the investigation of this (TR 519-526) Lauridson testified that it was not death. unusual for physicians to review information other physicians gathered and to render a second opinion based on that material. (TR 543-544) In order to render his opinion, Lauridson reviewed numerous photographic slides of the scene and autopsy, Sybers' written records, and Sybers previous testimony. (TR 545, 567-571)

Lauridson concluded that Tressa Pettibone died as the result of hemorrhaging from a stab wound to the neck. (TR

546-547) Three stab wounds to the neck existed. (TR 546-547) One stab wound cut a major blood vessel resulting in severe bleeding. (TR 546-547) The trachea was also cut resulting in some inhalation of blood into the lungs. (TR 561-562) testified that ten to fifteen blunt force injuries existed. (TR 547) Some caused bruising to the head and face as well as cuts over the eyes and to the lip. (TR 556-559) Blunt injuries to the chest and abdomen caused some hemorrhaging to the diaphragm. (TR 564-565) The towel found around the neck had produced some abrasions under the chin consistent with the towel being pulled to move the body at the time of death or just after death. (TR 554-555) There was also significant swelling of the hands due to the binding of the plastic tie. Lauridson concluded that the blunt force (TR 551-552) injuries occurred before the fatal stab wound to the neck. (TR 565-566) He also estimated that the hands were bound about twenty minutes before death. (TR 566-567)

About a week before the homicide, Tressa Pettibone and her children, Blythe and Bart, saw Mark Geralds at the mall. (TR 595, 605) Geralds knew the family since he performed carpentry work on the remodeling of their residence. (TR 594, 604-605) During the conversation, Tressa Pettibone mentioned that her husband was out of town. (TR 606) Later, Bart saw Geralds playing a game in the arcade in the mall. (TR 596, 600-601) Bart walked into the arcade, saw the game Geralds was playing and began playing another game. (TR 601-602) According to Bart, Geralds asked when his father would return

and when he and his sister left for school and came home. (TR 596-597)

On March 1, 1989, a gold herringbone chain necklace was recovered at the Miracle Strip Pawn Shop. (TR 397) broker, Billy Danford, testified that his records indicated that Mark Allen Geralds pawned the necklace on February 1, 1989, at 2:00 p.m. (TR 580-583) He used information from a driver's license for his records. (TR 581-582) Geralds' wallet was seized during the investigation and his driver's license and a pawn ticket for the necklace were found inside. Danford also identified Geralds in court as the (TR 398) person who was identified by the license and as the person who pawned the necklace. (TR 582-584) Blythe Pettibone was present with Officer Winterman at the pawn shop and identified the necklace as one like her mother owned. (TR 610) Small blood stains were found in the grooved areas of the chain. (TR Later testing of these stains showed the them to be blood which was consistent with Tressa Pettibone's and inconsistent with Geralds'. (TR 464-482) Vicki Ward testified that Geralds visited her at work in January or early February 1989 and gave her a pair of red, Bucci sunglasses. (TR 396, 424-425, 576-579) Blythe Pettibone said the sunglasses obtained from Ward were her mother's. (TR 610)

During the search of Geralds' motel room, a pair of size 10 1/2 shoes were seized. (TR 401) Kenneth Hoag, an expert in shoe print comparison, testified that the shoes seized from Geralds was of similar size and tread design as the footprints found in blood on the vinyl floor where the homicide occurred.

(TR 486-491) In the trunk of Geralds' car, a bag containing plastic electrical ties was found. (TR 403) These ties were made by the same company that made the ties found at the crime scene. (TR 403-404)

(2) The Defense Case

The defense presented evidence suggesting that individuals were involved in the homicide. During examination of Investigator Jimmerson, defense counsel queshim about other suspects, specifically two tioned mentioned in an investigative report prepared after the first trial of this case. (TR 418-423) In September of 1991, J.D. Nolin of the Bay County Sheriff's Department prepared a report concerning the homicide with information suggesting Archie McGowan and William Pelton were involved. (TR 680-682) The report was referred to the Panama City Police Department as the investigating agency for the offense. (TR Jimmerson, an investigator with the police department, testified that he did not follow up on the report from Nolin because the suspects had been covered in the earlier investigation. (TR 421) Jimmerson stated that he did not have evidence placing William Pelton at the crime scene. (TR 421)

Mark Geralds testified that on the day of his arrest for what he thought was only driving with a suspended license, he called his wife, Leigh Ann, and his friend, William Pelton, to post his bond. (TR 707) They were informed that he was not bondable but were not given a reason. (TR 707-708) Geralds later learned from Leigh Ann that, on the same day, Pelton had told her when he picked her up that Mark would be arrested for

the murder. (TR 709) Leigh Ann also told Mark, that on the same day, Pelton locked her in a room and threatened her and her daughter if Mark talked to the police. (TR 710) At a later time, Pelton delivered a similar threat to Leigh Ann through Archie McGowan. (TR 711) Mark felt desperate and hopeless since he could not get out of jail to protect his wife and daughter. (TR 711) He also made the decision that Leigh Ann should not testify at the resentencing trial for her safety. (TR 712-713)

The defense called both Pelton and McGowan as witnesses. (TR 641, 662) Before they testified, the court appointed them counsel and advised them of their privilege against selfincrimination. (TR 290-299) After consulting with their lawyers, both men testified. (TR 641, 662) Pelton also stopped his testimony to consult with counsel. (TR 660-661) Pelton testified that he had known Mark and Leigh Ann for eight years. (TR 642) Mark and Pelton were friends in vocational school for industrial electronics. (TR 650-651) Pelton had also known Archie McGowan for a number of years. Pelton denied ever discussing the delivery of a (TR 643) message to Leigh Ann with McGowan. (TR 643) Additionally, Pelton denied any conversation with McGowan about Mark, except perhaps a discussion about a news account of the case. (TR Although Pelton said he had seen Leigh Ann since Mark's arrest, their conversations were casual. (TR 653) Pelton did not recall if he went to the jail the day of Mark's arrest to help bond him out. (TR 643-644) He said he may have told Leigh Ann that Mark was to be charged with murder, but the conversation would have been several days later. (TR 644-645) Pelton said Investigator Bob Jimmerson told him Mark was to be charged with the murder. (TR 645-646) Pelton met Jimmerson when he was being interrogated about the Pettibone murder. (TR 655)

Archie McGowan said he knows William Pelton, has met Mark Geralds twice and knows of Leigh Ann Geralds because she was one of his wife's students when she was in school. (TR 662-663) McGowan said he would speak to Leigh Ann when he saw her in the mall. (TR 665) He did not remember meeting with her or having any conversation with her involving Pelton. (TR 666-667) He denied delivering a message from Pelton to Leigh Ann. (TR 667) McGowan said he was convicted of drug related charges in the past and received probation because he assisted the State in an investigation of some other people involved in drugs. (TR 668-670)

Kenneth Hobbs, a long-time friend, testified. (TR 623) Hobbs said his family and Mark's were friends since his early childhood. (TR 623) Hobbs remembered Mark as a big brother image. (TR 625) In particular, Mark helped him through a difficult time at fourteen-years-old when his parents divorced. (TR 625) Mark's parents had divorced a couple of years earlier, and Mark shared his experience and gave Kenneth advice. (TR 625) Hobbs said he never knew Mark to be violent. In 1985 or 1986, Hobbs noticed that Mark was associating with people involved in illegal activities, and he stopped spending as much time with him. (TR 626-630)

Donald Harlan owned a building business and frequently employed Mark's father and Mark. (TR 671-672) He remembered Mark with his father when Mark was 10 to 12-years-old. (TR When he was older, Mark worked with his father during the summer. (TR 672-673) Harlan recalled when Mark's parents divorced. (TR 673-674) Mark lived lived with his father and continued to work with him. (TR 673-674) During this time, Harlan said Mark was interested in the work and performed well. (TR 673) Since he was close to Mark's parents, Harlan learned the divorce caused many hard feelings. (TR 676) Additionally, Mark's mother resented that she had conceived Mark and mistreated Mark his entire life. (TR 676) Mark's father moved north, Mark continued to work for Harlan. (TR 674) However, his work habits deteriorated. (TR 674-675) He began sleeping late and not being available in the mornings. (TR 674-675)

Mark testified about his years growing up and his background. (TR 697-705) Although born in Ohio, Mark grew up in Panama City. (TR 697) He was 22 at the time of the homicide. (R 373, TR 697) He remembered working with his father since he was nine-years-old. (TR 702) His parents divorced when he was fifteen. (TR 702) Scott Hobbs was a close friend who was three years younger whose parents also divorced a brief time after Mark's parents. (TR 702) Mark and Scott were like brothers at that time, and Mark tried to help Scott through the difficult time. (TR 702-703) Agreeing with Donald Harlan, Mark said he went through a difficult time, starting associating with the wrong people and became involved with

stealing cars. (TR 704-705) He stayed out late and could not get up in the mornings. (TR 704) His work habits eroded. (TR 704) He testified that he lost some of his values during this time. (TR 704) Mark married his girlfriend Leigh Ann after his incarceration. (TR 698) They had one daughter. (TR 698) However, at the time of this proceeding, Mark and Leigh Ann were divorced because of the difficulties Leigh Ann suffered in the community because of her association with Mark. (TR 698-700)

James Beller, a psychotherapist, tested and examined diagnosed Mark as bi-polar 733-737) Не characterized by a major depression followed by several episodes of manic behavior. (TR 738) Beller explained that for some suffers of this illness, the manic stages may be all internal rather than external hyperactivity. (TR 738) has had episodes of major depression since the age of nine. (TR 749) In childhood, Mark internalized his anger. (TR 761) He was never able to get close to his father. (TR 744) Mark's mother has emotional problems. (TR 744) Mark described his position in the family as like a pet. (TR 744) As a result, isolated himself emotionally and internalized Mark feelings. (TR 744) He developed an uncaring attitude toward school and achievement generally, even though his intelligence testing showed Mark to have an IQ around 120. (TR 739, 752-Things which were important to him became 753, 761) unimportant. (TR 758) Mark began acting out through anger, drugs, alcohol, and sexual episodes. (TR 758) He was a loner, manipulative and had an explosive temper. (TR 744, 754, 758)

His explosive temper came from Mark's internalizing his anger to the point where it had to be released. (TR 744) Mark is not ordinarily explosive, but when under stress for a time, his frustration tolerance lowers. (TR 745)

Defense counsel asked the court for a brief continuance of a few days until the next week to secure the presence of Dr. William Sybers to testify. (TR 808) He had inquired at Sybers' office and determined that he was out of town for a few days. (TR 808-810) Counsel wanted Sybers to testify because Dr. Lauridson's testimony and opinions were based on materials acquired from Sybers. (TR 810) Without Sybers, counsel argued Geralds' right to confrontation could not be secured. (TR 810-812) The court denied the motion for continuance and overuled the renewed objections to hearsay. (TR 811)

The trial court instructed the jury on the cold, calculated and premeditated and heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstances using the standard jury instructions. (TR 887-888) Defense counsel objected to the HAC instruction. (TR 789-791, 819, 884) Defense counsel made a general objection to the form of all the proposed aggravating circumstance instructions. (TR 888) He also objected to giving the instruction on CCP for lack of evidence. (TR 792-796, 815-819, 849) This trial occurred before this Court's decision in Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994), declaring the standard CCP instruction unconstitutional. (R 311) The court also refused to give two instructions the defense requested. (TR 797-801, 850-851) One was for the standard instruction on

the statutory mitigating circumstance concerning the defendant suffering from a mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the homicide. (TR 799-801) The second was a request to instruct the jury that nonviolent prior convictions could not be used aggravating circumstances. (TR 797-799, 850-851)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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