FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 27 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

MARK ALLEN GERALDS,

Appellant,

v.

Case No.: 81,738

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 52 -

only upon this testimony and no evidence tying Geralds's depression to the time he murdered the victim, was wholly insufficient. <u>See Duncan v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 279, 283 (Fla. 1993); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404, 412 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, 123 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1993); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 108, 111 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 112 S. Ct. 131 (1991).

Geralds's reliance on <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1992), is misplaced based on the unique facts of <u>Bryant</u>. There, Bryant adduced evidence of his low I.Q., mental retardation, emotional problems, physical disability, and drug and alcohol abuse. Based on Bryant's presentation of "sufficient evidence that he had emotional problems resulting from his retardation and physical disability," this Court concluded that applicable mitigating instructions should have been given to the jury. <u>Id.</u> at 533. No such evidence exists in this case.

<u>Stewart v. State</u>, 558 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1990), and <u>Smith</u> <u>v. State</u>, 492 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1986), relied on by Geralds, are also inapposite. In <u>Smith</u>, this Court held that, because there was some evidence that Smith had smoked marijuana <u>on the night of the murder</u>, the trial court should have instructed on the reduced capacity and extreme emotional disturbance. While Geralds received the reduced capacity instruction, he provided no evidence of any extreme

- 53 -

emotional disturbance on the day of the murder. In Stewart, this Court concluded that the trial court properly declined instruct on extreme disturbance, but should have to instructed on impaired capacity based on Stewart's history of chronic alcohol and drug abuse and Dr. Merin's opinion that Stewart was drunk at the time of the shooting and that his control over his behavior was reduced by his alcohol Although Geralds received the impaired capacity abuse. instruction, he, unlike Stewart, offered no evidence of a protracted, chronic, and extreme mental or emotional disturbance, one which existed on the day of the murder. Geralds adduced evidence only that he had had some depressed episodes in his life.

In any event, the sentencing court instructed the jury that it could consider any aspect of Geralds's character, record, or circumstances of the offense in mitigation (T 889). "This instruction sufficiently alerted the jury to the fact that it could consider the slim evidence of [the defendant]'s mental deficiency in mitigation." <u>Carter v.</u> State, 576 So. 2d 1291, 1293 (Fla. 1989).

- 54 -

Issue VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE CCP AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

Geralds claims that his jury received а constitutionally inadequate instruction on the CCP aggravating factor. Regardless of the actual instruction below,¹³ Geralds is procedurally barred from raising this claim at this juncture, because he failed to preserve this point for appellate review.

At the charge conference, the prosecutor asked defense counsel whether he had any objection to the instructions on the aggravating circumstances if they were given in "Supreme Court[] form" (T 796). To this, defense counsel answered: "Sure." (T 796). After announcing rest, defense counsel objected to the CCP instruction on the basis that the evidence did not support it (T 818) and that this Court had spoken on CCP in its previous Geralds decision (T 819).

Conspicuously absent from the record, however, is an objection to the actual wording of the CCP jury instruction. Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred from appellate review. See Harvey v. Dugger, 650 So. 2d 982,

¹³ In March 1993, the trial court instructed the jury that it could consider whether "the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification." (T 888).

987-88 (Fla. 1995) ("Because Harvey did not object to these instructions or request legally sufficient alternative instructions, these claims are procedurally barred."); Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85, 90 (Fla. 1994) ("Claims instruction the cold, calculated and that the on premeditated aggravator is unconstitutionally vague are procedurally barred unless a specific objection is made at trial and pursued on appeal."); Lightbourne v. State, 644 So. 2d 54, 59 (Fla. 1994) ("[A]lthough Lightbourne did object to these aggravating circumstances, he did so only on did not arounds that the evidence support the the Because Lightbourne did not make a specific instructions. objection as to the validity of the instructions, the claim is not preserved for appeal.").

Geralds claims he should be penalized not by application of Jackson's procedural bar because Jackson had not issued at the time he was resentenced in 1993 and trial counsel could not have foreseen Jackson. Initial Brief at This argument is patently frivolous. 56. While Jackson issued a new CCP instruction, <u>Jackson's procedural ruling</u> was not new, as shown by this Court's many cases which See Jackson v. Dugger, 633 So. 2d 1051 predate Jackson. (Fla. 1993); Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313 (Fla.), cert. denied, 123 L. Ed. 2d 507 (1993); Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993); Melendez v. State, 612 So. 2d 1366

- 56 -

(Fla. 1992); <u>Kennedy v. Singletary</u>, 602 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 1992); and <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1991). If defense counsel did not approve of the wording of the CCP instruction, he could and should have objected specifically on that point and asked for an expanded instruction.

Issue IX

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE HAC AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Geralds claims that his jury received an unconstitutionally vague instruction on the HAC aggravating factor. Regardless of the actual instruction below,¹⁴ Geralds is procedurally barred from raising this claim at this juncture, because he failed to preserve this point for appellate review.

At the charge conference, the prosecutor argued in support of the most recent HAC instruction, citing both <u>Hall</u> v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla.), cert. denied, 126 L. Ed. 2d

¹⁴ The trial court instructed the jury that it could consider whether

the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

"Heinous" means extremely wicked or shockingly evil.

"Atrocious" means outrageously wicked and vile.

"Cruel" means designed to inflict a high degree of pain; utter indifference to, or even enjoyment of, the suffering of others. The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious, or cruel is one accompained by additional that show that the crime acts was pitiless conscienceless or and was unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

(T 887-88).

74 (1993), and Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 123 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1993), to the trial court (T 789-90). When the trial court observed that the most recent pronouncement by this Court would be the proper instruction, defense counsel stated: "There is a newer one, Your Honor, and I have listed in a theory notebook which is in the top drawer, one here in Florida Law Weekly on Johnson. . . " (T 790-91). Other than that comment, defense counsel registered no "objection" to the HAC instruction proposed by the state. In fact, when counsel discussed the CCP instruction, the prosecutor asked defense counsel if he had any objections to the standard jury instructions (T 796). After defense counsel stated only, "Sure," the prosecutor said, "Other than heinous, atrocious and cruel." (T 796). Defense counsel was silent.

Geralds' record references, cited ostensibly to show that defense counsel preserved this issue for appellate review, are affirmatively misleading. Geralds cites properly to passage noted above at (T 790-91), but his citations to (T 819) and (T 884) are enigmatic. Initial Brief at 58. At (T 819), counsel and the trial court were discussing the applicability of the CCP aggravating factor, and defense counsel stated he thought "it would be wise . . . to consider what the [Florida Supreme] Court [said] in reversing the Geralds['s] decision in the penalty phase." (T 819). Defense counsel concluded by stating that he objected to the trial court's decision to instruct on all three aggravating circumstances (T 819). Even if this vague passage could possibly be construed to constitute a proper objection, the basis for defense counsel's "objection" was clear -- the trial court should not instruct the jury on those aggravating factors disapproved by this Court in its first <u>Geralds</u> decision. Such an objection was not specific enough to preserve any argument that defense counsel did not like the current HAC instruction, and defense counsel certainly did not offer any alternative instruction to register his disapprobation.

Geralds' reference to (T 884) is particularly troublesome as that is found in defense counsel's <u>closing</u> <u>argument</u> and not during the charge conference. Nowhere in this passage is anything which would even remotely preserve an argument concerning the HAC jury instruction.

The record makes clear that Geralds failed to preserve this point for appellate review. In accordance with its own case law, this Court should decline to reach the merits of this issue. <u>See Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994); <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993); <u>Melendez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 612 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 1992); <u>Kennedy v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, 602 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 1992); <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1991). Further, in <u>Sochor v. Florida</u>, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1992), the United States Supreme Court expressly honored this procedural bar, thereby conclusively putting to rest any notion that this claim is fundamental in nature.

In any event, although Geralds acknowledges that the instruction given in <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 120 L. Ed. 2d 854 (1992), is not the one given in this case, he nevertheless contends the instant instruction is not significantly different from those in <u>Espinosa</u> and <u>Shell v. Mississippi</u>, 498 U.S. 1 (1990), and is likewise unconstitutionally vague because it fails to inform the jury of the findings necessary to support the aggravating circumstance and a sentence of death.

In Arave v. Creech, 123 L. Ed. 2d 188 (1993), the United States Supreme Court found it unnecessary "to decide whether the statutory phrase 'utter disregard for human life' itself passes constitutional muster. The Idaho Supreme Court has adopted a limiting construction, and we believe that construction meets constitutional requirements." Id. at 198. Similarly, this Court has adopted a limiting construction and has held consistently that the jury instruction given in this case is constitutional. See Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95, 98 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 n.5 (Fla. 1994),

- 61 -

cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1708 (1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1000, 1009 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1705 (1995); Dillbeck v. State, 643 So. 2d 1027, 1031 n.6 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 131 L. Ed. 2d 226 (1995); Green v. State, 641 So. 2d 391, 396 n.3 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (1995); Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 387 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 887 (1995); Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 131 L. Ed. 2d 227 (1995); Marguard v. State, 641 So. 2d 54, 58 n.4 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 890 (1995); Hendrix v. State, 637 So. 2d 916, 921 (Fla.), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 916 (1994); Stein v. State, 632 So. 2d 1361, 1367 (Fla.), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 58 (1994); Mordenti v. State, 630 So. 2d 1080, 1085 (Fla.), cert. denied, 129 L. Ed. 2d 849 (1994); Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038, 1043 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 54 (1994); Gorby v. State, 630 So. 2d 544, 548 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 130 L. Ed. 2d 48 (1994); Hall, 614 So. 2d at 478; Preston, 607 So. 2d at 410; Power v. State, 605 So. 2d 856, 864-65 n.10 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 123 L. Ed. 2d 483 (1993).

The instant instruction passes constitutional muster, because it sufficiently defined the terms "heinous," "atrocious," and "cruel" and tracked the language of the June 1990 amendments to the standard jury instructions. See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) Penalty Proceedings -- Capital Cases 79-79a (1990). Geralds's assertion that the United Supreme Court rejected essentially the States same instruction in Shell v. Mississippi is disingenuous. There, the sentencing court offered the following limiting instruction to the jury: "'[T]he word heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil; atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile; and cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with indifference to, or even enjoyment of [,] the suffering of others.'" Id. at 2 (Marshall, J., concurring).

As this Court is well aware, the Shell instruction is not identical to the 1990 version of Florida's HAC jury instruction given in this case. Although the Shell limiting instruction purported to define the terms "heinous," "atrocious," and "cruel," it constitutionally was insufficient because its definitions were "'too vague to provide any guidance to the sentencer.'" Id. at 3 (citation omitted). The same thing cannot be said about the last sentence of Florida's instruction, which clearly limits the application of this aggravating factor to those crimes which are "conscienceless or pitiless and . . . unnecessarily tortuous to the victim." (T 888). As the United States Supreme Court noted in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 256 (1976), the "conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily tortuous to the victim" language provides adequate guidance to those charged with the duty of recommending or imposing sentences in capital cases.

Despite Proffitt's clear holding, Geralds nevertheless claims that this last sentence of the 1991 version of the HAC instruction is still insufficient because (1) the jury could follow only the first part of the instruction, (2) the applicable jury could find HAC if the crime were conscienceless but not unnecessarily tortuous based on the disjunctive wording, and (3) the terms are subject to overbroad interpretation. Initial Brief at 60-61. These arguments are baseless and constitute rank supposition. As to the first, there is no reason to assume that the jury would disregard the last sentence of the instruction. As to the second, Geralds's speculation is unsupported based on the placement of this sentence in context of the full instruction. As to the third, it is clear that, under Proffitt and Espinosa, the definitions and last sentence sufficiently limit, for constitutional purposes, the jury's ability to interpret these terms. See Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 201-02 (1976) ("[T]his language need not be construed in this way, and there is no reason to assume that the Supreme Court of Georgia will adopt such an open-ended construction"; "While such a phrase might be susceptible to an overly broad interpretation, the Supreme Court of Georgia has not so construed it.").

- 64 -

Geralds also claims that this jury instruction does not properly incorporate all arguably relevant case law from this Court. However, <u>Espinosa</u> did not mandate that all such jury instructions encompass every nuance of decisional authority involving the application of the aggravating circumstances to pass constitutional muster. <u>See also</u> <u>Vaught v. State</u>, 410 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1982).

In Sochor v. Florida, the United States Supreme Court noted that, in 1973, this Court had adopted a narrowing construction in State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943 (1974), and concluded: "Understanding the factor, as defined in Dixon, to apply only to a 'conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim,' held in we Proffit[t] . . . that the sentencer had adequate guidance." Sochor, 119 L. Ed. 2d at 339. See Atwater v. State, 626 So. 2d 1325, 1328 n.3 (Fla. 1993) (the description of HAC "known as the Dixon instruction and is the current Florida Standard Jury Instruction on that aggravating factor."); Johnson v. Singletary, 612 So. 2d 575, 577 (Fla. 1993) ("it is clear that Florida has adopted a narrowing construction of its heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor . . . that has tracked the language as acceptable in Sochor.").

Nevertheless, if this Court were to determine otherwise, it is clear that any error committed by the trial

- 65 -

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